

## ACADEMY OF SURGICAL RESEARCH BYLAWS - 2019

**Preamble:** *The Academy of Surgical Research (ASR) is formed to promote and foster the development of the art and science of experimental surgery. The ASR will promote scientific research, teaching, and high professional ethics for the purpose of advancement of experimental surgery. These goals will be pursued by encouraging apprenticeships and scholarships, honoring distinguished members in this field, promoting publications concerning this specialty, sponsoring meetings that facilitate the exchange of scientific information, and striving to ensure the humane use and treatment of experimental animals.*

### ARTICLE I. Offices.

The ASR is a corporation registered in the State of Minnesota, USA. The principal office may be located inside or outside the state of Minnesota. The ASR may have such other offices, either within or without the State of Minnesota, as the Board of Directors may determine necessary or desirable. The ASR shall have and continuously maintain in the State of Minnesota, a registered office and a registered agent. The registered office and the registered agent may be changed from time to time by the Board of Directors.

### ARTICLE II. Membership.

#### **Section 1. Categories of Membership.**

The types of membership and the qualifications and privileges of each are as follows:

- A. **Active Member.** Any person who has demonstrated interest in promoting surgical research shall be eligible for active membership. Such members may vote and hold office in the Academy.
- B. **Emeritus Member.** Any person who has 1) been an active member in good standing for the previous five years and 2) retired from active professional life shall be eligible for emeritus membership. Such members shall be excused from payment of dues, other than charges for optional journal subscription, and shall not vote or hold office in the Academy.
- C. **Honorary Member.** Any person who has rendered special meritorious service to the Academy or who has performed work evidencing an unusually high degree of achievement in experimental surgery may be elected to honorary membership by the recommendation of the Board of Directors. Such members shall be excused from payment of dues, other than charges for optional journal subscription, and shall not vote or hold office in the Academy. Honorary membership shall not

preclude simultaneous active membership.

- D. **Associate member.** Any person currently in a training program in the field of experimental surgery and has demonstrated interest in promoting surgical research shall be eligible for associate membership. Such members may vote and hold office but will not receive the Journal of Investigative Surgery.

## **Section 2. Election of Members.**

- A. **Application for membership** is accomplished by submitting the following to the Membership Committee:
- 1) A completed application form.
  - 2) The application fee. This fee will be recognized as the first annual dues. Names of two references who are familiar with the applicant and who are in a position to judge competence and contributions to the field of experimental surgery.
- B. New membership applications will be reviewed by the Membership Committee and submitted to the BOD for approval.

## **Section 3. Censure, Suspension, and Expulsion of Members.**

Any member of the ASR may be censured, suspended, or expelled for professional misconduct or for misconduct in relation to the purpose of the ASR, or for any other good cause, by a vote of not less than two-thirds of the Board Members in attendance at a membership meeting of the Board. The procedure to be followed in the censure, suspension, or expulsion of any member shall be as follows:

- A. Charges must be made in writing, fully describing the offense, signed by a member in good standing and filed with the Treasurer of the ASR.
- B. Upon receipt of the written complaint, the Treasurer shall send a copy to all members of the Board of Directors and to the accused member.
- C. If charges warrant investigation as determined by a majority vote of the Board of Directors, a reasonable time and place for a hearing will be set and all involved parties will be notified.
- D. At the hearing, the Board of Directors shall carefully consider the charges, which must be supported in person by the accuser. It shall likewise consider any evidence submitted in defense by the accused. The accused member should be present at the hearing, but shall not be denied the right of presenting evidence in absentia if unable to personally attend the hearing.
- E. Within thirty days after the conclusion of the hearing, the Board of Directors shall prepare and present to the membership a written report of its findings, conclusions, and actions recommended.
- F. The Treasurer shall notify the accused member in writing of the action taken by the Board of Directors and the membership meeting.

- G. Appeal: If the accused member disagrees with the findings of the Board, he/she may appeal to a panel of three past Board members, approved by the Board, whose decision shall be final.

**Section 4. Termination of Membership.**

The Board of Directors, by appropriate vote of two-thirds of its number, may terminate the membership of any member of the ASR for the following reasons:

- A. Written resignation by the member submitted to the Treasurer.
- B. Failure to pay dues in the current membership year.
- C. Censure, suspension, or expulsion by the membership.

**Section 5. Reinstatement of Membership.**

Upon written request of a former member, filed with the Treasurer, the Board of Directors may, by affirmative vote of a majority of its number, reinstate the member to membership upon such terms as it deems appropriate.

**Section 6. Transfer of Membership.**

Membership in ASR is not transferable or assignable.

**ARTICLE III. Officers.**

**Section 1. Officers.**

The officers of the Academy shall be the President, President-elect, Immediate Past-President, Treasurer and Liaison Officer

**Section 2. Election and Term of Office.**

The officers of ASR shall be elected by the membership from the slate of candidates recommended by the Nominating Committee in writing or from write-in votes. Only an active member of the Academy is eligible to serve as an officer. The Nominating

Committee shall nominate at least two candidates for every open position.

All members in good standing of ASR will receive a ballot of the slate of candidates by mail or

an electronic ballot or in person at least one month prior to the election and each will have the right to cast a vote by mail or electronically.

Each officer shall hold office until a successor is duly elected or appointed.

### **Section 3. Removal.**

Any officer may be removed by the action of the electors after application of the grievance procedures as outlined in Article II, Section 3.

### **Section 4. Vacancies.**

A vacancy in any office because of death, resignation, removal or otherwise may be filled for the unexpired portion of the term by majority vote of the Board of Directors.

### **Section 5. Duties and Terms of Offices.**

The duties and terms of offices are as follows:

- A. The **President** shall supervise and control all of the business and affairs of the ASR and shall preside at all meetings of the membership and of the Board of Directors. The President may sign, with the Treasurer or any other proper officer of the Board of Directors authorized by the Board of Directors, any deed, mortgages, bonds, contracts, or other instruments which the Board of Directors has authorized to be executed, except in cases where the signing and execution thereof shall be expressly delegated by the Board of Directors or by these bylaws or by statute to some other officer or agent of the ASR, and in general shall perform all the duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors from time to time. The term of office shall be for a period of one year without succession.
- B. The **President-elect** shall cooperate and assist with the duties of the President, and serve as an ex officio member of the Nominating Committee. The President Elect may select vice-chairs of standing committees. In the absence of the President, the President-elect shall preside at the meetings of the ASR and Board of Directors and perform the duties and exercise the powers of the President. The term of office shall be for a period of one year, at which time the President-elect shall become the President. The new President shall submit a preliminary report of next years' annual meeting to the board during the Board of Directors meeting held in conjunction with the annual meeting of the Academy. This report shall include meeting location, probable lodging availability and cost, and necessary support requirements.
- C. The **Immediate Past-President** shall serve as the Chair of the Nominating Committee, Chair of the Committee of Past-Presidents, and Chair of the Awards Committee and shall support, advise, and assist the current President in performance of the duties of that office.
- D. The **Treasurer** shall give bond for the faithful discharge of duties in such sum and with such surety as the Board of Directors shall determine. The cost

of the bonding is to be paid by the Academy. The Treasurer shall have oversight of, and be responsible for, all funds and securities of the Academy, receive and give receipts for monies due and payable to the Academy from any source whatsoever and deposit all such monies in the name of the Academy in such banks, trust companies, or other Depositories as shall be selected by the Board of Directors. He/she shall assist with and oversee submission to the Board of Directors, on request and at its meetings, an account of all financial transactions and the financial condition of the Academy, and in general, perform all the duties incident to the office of Treasurer and such other duties as from time to time may be assigned by the President, or by the Board of Directors. The term of office shall be for a period of up to three consecutive two year terms (6 years total).

- E. The **Liaison Officer** shall be responsible for developing and maintaining liaison with other societies whose goals are complementary to the ASR that would further promote the goals of the ASR. In general, the Liaison Officer shall accomplish this goal through interaction, publications, and presentations with and by other societies and academies with similar interest in the art and science of experimental surgery and perform related duties as may, from time to time, be assigned by the President or by the Board of Directors. The term of office shall be for a period of one year, at which time the Liaison Officer shall become the President-elect.

#### **Article IV. The Executive Director.**

The **Executive Director** shall be a Board appointed or contracted Administrator or Organization and shall be the custodian of the corporate records and of the seal of the Academy and see that the seal of the Academy is affixed to all documents, the execution of which, on behalf of the Academy under its seal, is duly authorized in accordance with the provisions of these bylaws; keep a register of the post office address and business telephone number of each member, which shall be furnished to the Executive Director by each member; store the permanent files of the Academy; publish a newsletter as directed by the Board of Directors; and in general perform other duties as from time to time may be assigned by the Board of Directors. The Executive Director shall record the minutes of all board meetings, perform all duties to the office of secretary and be responsible for the correspondence of the Academy. The Executive Director shall not be a member of the Board of Directors, and shall not be entitled to vote on matters brought before the Board of Directors. The Executive Director shall be appointed annually by the Board of Directors as an agenda item of the Annual Meeting, and shall be paid as determined by the Board of Directors unless otherwise voted by the Board of Directors.

## **Article V. Board of Directors.**

### **Section 1. Composition.**

A. The Board of Directors shall include the Officers as designated in Article III, Section 1.

B. The Board of Directors shall include a maximum of six (6) at large directors, two elected each year as described in Article III, Section 2 for a term of office of three years. Retiring at-large Directors may be nominated for re-election to a second consecutive term. Only active members of the Academy are eligible to serve on the Board of Directors.

C. The Board of Directors shall include the Chair of each standing committee as defined in Article VII, Section 1.

### **Section 2. Duties.**

Each member of the Board of Directors shall possess a single vote relevant to business of the Academy. The operation and management of the Academy and all of its properties and affairs shall be entrusted to the Board of Directors. It shall have and exercise all the powers and authorities of supervision and management not otherwise provided for by the charter, the bylaws, or the laws of the State of Illinois.

### **Section 3. Board Meetings.**

A regular annual meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held on a day proximate with, and at the same location as, the annual meeting of members. The purpose of the Board meeting shall be to conduct the business of the ASR, which may include the following:

- A. Establishment of the annual fees
- B. Selection of the auditors
- C. Reception of the Treasurer's report
- D. Reception of the President's report
- E. Reception of the Liaison Officer's report
- F. Election of the Chair and members of the committees
- G. Selection of the location and date of the next membership meetings
- H. Determination of the membership meeting agenda
- I. Approval of business procedures
- J. Approval of budget to be submitted to membership meeting
- K. Appointment/reappointment of the Executive Director
- L. Other business pertinent to operation of the Academy as appropriate

The reports may be submitted prior to the Board meeting and approved at the meeting as a consent agenda.

#### **Section 4. Special Meetings.**

Other meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by the President or any four members of the Board of Directors. The person or persons calling the special meeting of the Board of Directors may fix any place, either inside or outside the State of Illinois, as the place for holding any special meeting of the Board of Directors called by them. Notice of any special meeting of the Board of Directors, together with an agenda, shall be given by written notice delivered personally, sent by U.S. mail or electronically mailed (e-mail) to each member of the Board of Directors at least eight weeks in advance if the meeting is to be in person. Three days notice will be given if the meeting is to occur telephonically. If mailed by U.S. mail, such notice shall be deemed to be delivered when deposited in the United States mail in a sealed envelope, postage prepaid, and addressed as shown on the records of the ASR. If e-mail is used, such notice shall be deemed delivered by electronic confirmation of receipt. Any Board member may waive this notice of any meeting.

#### **Section 5. Quorum.**

A majority of the Board of Directors, as defined in Article V, Section 1, shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the Board of Directors. If a quorum is not present at any meeting of the Board, no business will be transacted and the meeting adjourned.

#### **Section 6. Manner of Acting.**

The act of a majority of the Board members present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board of Directors, unless the act of a greater number is required by these bylaws.

#### **Section 7. Meetings by Telecommunication**

Directors may participate in and act at any meeting of the Board of Directors through the use of a conference telephone, videoconferencing, email or by any other means by which all persons participating in the meeting can communicate with each other. Participation in such meetings shall constitute attendance and presence in person at the meeting of the person or persons so participating.

#### **Section 8. Voting: Electronic Voting**

- a. General. Each director in Good standing shall be entitled to one (1) vote on each matter submitted to a vote of the Board.
- b. Electronic voting may be used in connection with both meetings of the Board and the solicitation of written consents as follows:
  - i) Meetings. For purpose of soliciting electronic votes in connection with a meeting of the Board at which a quorum was present, the requisite number of votes that would have been required at such meeting to pass an action shall be required to pass an action via this telephonic voting provision. Only those directors in attendance

of the meeting shall be permitted to vote with respect to this section. The deadline for receipt of electronic votes with respect to any such vote shall be no sooner than two (2) weeks from the date of the meeting, as announced prior to adjournment of such meeting.

- ii) Action without meeting. For purposes of taking action without a meeting, solicitation via electronic balloting and voting shall be permitted hereunder. Such procedure shall be initiated by the electronic distribution of ballots and all related materials for consideration by the Board to all of the directors in good standing at the time of such distribution. Thereafter, such directors shall be permitted to cast their votes electronically in response to the distributed ballots. The deadline for receipt of such electronic votes cast by the directors shall be no less than two (2) weeks from the date of mailing of the balloting materials as set forth therein.

## **ARTICLE VI. Meetings of Members.**

### **Section 1. Annual Business Meeting.**

The annual business meeting of the members shall be held on such day and time and place as the Board of Directors shall determine. The order of business at the annual business meeting may be as follows:

- A.* Reading of the minutes
- B.* President's report
- C.* Treasurer's report
- D.* Committee reports
- E.* Election of officers
- F.* Adoption of budget
- G.* Unfinished business
- H.* New business
- I.* Other business pertinent to operation of the Academy as appropriate
- J.* Adjournment

The annual business meeting is open only to members of ASR.



## **Section 2. Scientific Meeting.**

The ASR will promote scientific meetings in conjunction with the annual membership meeting. Scientific meetings may be organized in conjunction and cooperation with other professional societies with related interests with approval of the Board of Directors. The scientific meetings of the ASR shall be open to non-members.

## **Section 3. Special Business Meetings.**

Special meetings of the members may be called by the President, Board of Directors, or not less than 25% of the members in good standing.

## **Section 4. Notice of Meetings.**

Written or printed notice stating the place, day, and hour of any meeting of members shall be delivered either personally, by U.S. mail or e-mailed to each member in good standing not less than eight weeks before the date of such meeting by or at the direction of the President or the officers or persons calling the meeting. The purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called shall be stated in the notice. If mailed by U.S. mail, the notice of a meeting shall be deemed to be delivered when deposited in the United States mail in a sealed envelope, postage prepaid, and addressed to the members at the address shown on the records of the ASR. If e-mailed, the notice shall be deemed delivered by electronic confirmation.

## **Section 5. Quorum.**

The presence of not less than 10% of the total membership of the ASR in attendance of the Annual meeting shall be necessary to constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. If a quorum is not present at any meeting of members, no business will be transacted and the meeting adjourned.

## **Section 6. Manner of Acting.**

A majority of the votes cast on a matter to be voted upon by the members present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be necessary for the adoption thereof unless a greater proportion is required by law or by these bylaws.

## **ARTICLE VII. Committees.**

### **Section 1. Standing Committees.**

There shall be nine standing committees: **Nominating, Membership, Bylaws, Program, Certification, Exhibitors, Publications and Communications and Veterinary Oversight.**

The Chairs of the standing committees shall be appointed by the President with the advice and consent of the Board of Directors. Chairs and members of each standing committee shall be members in good standing of ASR.

#### **A. Nominating Committee.**

The Nominating Committee shall consist of three or more members, one of whom shall be the Immediate Past-President who will act as chair of the committee. The President-Elect shall serve as an *ex-officio* member of this Committee. The Nominating Committee shall submit the names of consenting nominees for officers of the ASR to the Board of Directors prior to being voted on by the membership. This action may be performed in conjunction with the annual meeting.

#### **B. Membership Committee.**

The Membership Committee shall be composed of three or more members one of whom shall be the Chairman. The committee shall review each application for membership and shall consider all data bearing on the applicant's qualifications and make recommendations to the Board of Directors as to each applicant's eligibility for membership and the class of membership for which the applicant is qualified. The Membership Committee shall promote membership in ASR and make recommendations to the Board of Directors on policy matters pertaining to membership.

#### **C. By Laws Committee.**

The Bylaws Committee shall consist three or more members including the Chairman. The Bylaws Committee shall consider and report on questions and problems arising with respect to the bylaws of the ASR and shall make recommendations for revisions to the Board of Directors. The Chair of the Bylaws Committee shall serve as the Parliamentarian of the ASR.

#### **D. Publications and Communications Committee.**

The Publications and Communications Committee shall consist of three or more members including the Chairman. The committee shall oversee the publication of Journal of Investigative Surgery, Surgical Savvy publication, Academy's website,

technical papers, reports, discussions, and other literature resulting from activities of ASR, and oversee other member communication matters as needed. The Committee shall review applications for the position of Editor in Chief of the Journal and shall make recommendation to the Board of potential acceptable applicants.

**Editorial Liaison** of the Journal of Investigative Surgery shall serve as an *ex officio* member of the Committee but shall not be entitled to vote on matters brought before the Committee. The unexpired term of an interim vacancy on the Committee shall be filled by appointment by the Chair of the Committee with the advice and consent of the Board.

The Committee, working with the President, the President elect, the Executive Director, and the **Editorial Liaison** of the Journal shall be responsible for soliciting bids from potential publishers for the Journal and in completing negotiations with those publishers to secure contractual agreement for publication.

#### **E. Program Committee.**

The Program Committee shall consist of three or more members including the Chairman. The Program Committee shall promote, review, and select scientific and technical papers for presentation at meetings of the ASR.

#### **F. Certification Committee**

The Certification Committee shall provide oversight to all established facets of the SRS, SRT and SRA Certification Program. The committee shall consist of three or more members including a Chairman.

#### **G. Exhibitors Committee**

The Exhibitors Committee shall oversee all aspects of the annual meeting trade show and maintain effective relations with our vendors. The committee shall consist of three or more members including a chairman. To be eligible to serve on the committee, you must have been an exhibitor at the last two annual meetings or an active member of the Academy.

#### **H. Veterinary Oversight Committee**

The Veterinary Oversight Committee shall be composed of three or more veterinarians who are members of ASR, one of whom shall serve as chair. Members of the committee shall serve a term of three. The committee will review and comment on proposed letters and white papers on regulatory, veterinary medical and / or science or others issues brought before the Academy. Once a consensus of a final position is reached by the committee, this advice and counsel will be presented by the Chair to the ASR Board of Directors for their consideration.

## **Section 2. Ad Hoc Committees.**

Ad Hoc Committees shall include but are not limited to the following:

### **A. Committee of Past Presidents.**

The Committee of Past Presidents shall include all past presidents of the Academy who continue as members in good standing of the Academy and the Immediate Past-President shall be the Chair. It shall function as a planning and advisory body to the Board of Directors and the President. A regular annual meeting of the committee will be held at the time of and at the same place as the annual meeting of the membership. Special meetings of the committee may be called by or at the request of the Chair or any four members of the committee.

### **B. Awards Committee**

The committee is responsible for the solicitation of candidate nominations, for the selection of a qualified awardee, and for the presentation of the Jacob Markowitz Award. A member of this committee shall be appointed by the current ASR President to serve as Markowitz Award Chair. Actions associated with candidate selection shall be guided by the regulations of the award which are as follows:

**The Jacob Markowitz Award** was established by the Academy of Surgical Research in 1986 to identify, honor, and promote outstanding contributions to medicine through the art, science, and technology of experimental surgery. Dr. Markowitz was chief of experimental surgery and a professor of physiology at the University of Toronto who changed the course of experimental surgery and heart transplantation.

Selection of each award recipient will be based on the candidate's impact on medical research/practice through teaching, publications, inventions, and/or expertise in experimental surgical research. One or more (or no) candidates may be selected to receive the award during the annual scientific meeting of the Academy of Surgical Research. The awardee(s) will receive recognition through a medallion and a lifelong honorary membership in the Academy of Surgical Research.

The names of the selected candidate nominee or nominees shall be presented to and ratified by the Board of Directors. The award shall be activated only if a suitable candidate is nominated and selected by a majority vote of the Board of Directors at the mid-year board meeting.

**The Andreas von Recum Award** was established by the Academy of Surgical Research in 1990 to identify and honor members of the organization for outstanding service to the membership of ASR.

The award is named for Andreas von Recum, DVM, Ph.D., a talented experimental surgeon who was the founder of the Academy of Surgical Research and its first president. His prolonged and active promotion of the organization as well as his dedicated service to the membership is unparalleled.

Any member of the Academy may make nominations. Selection will be based upon the candidate's demonstrated distinguished service past and/or present to the membership of the Academy. Candidates must have been active members of the Academy for at least 5 consecutive years. Candidates must have served as a committee Chair, board member or officer of the Academy for at least one year.

**C. William Hall Outstanding Publication Award** was established by the Academy of Surgical Research in in the year 1997 to recognize the best publication in the Journal of Investigative Surgery (JIS).

This award is named after C W. Hall who was an MD cardiovascular surgeon that was the first physician that worked with Andreas von Recum, and others to establish the Academy. He was also the first president of the Society for Biomaterials and also served as president of ASAIO, and ASR. The Editor of the Journal usually picks the author from last year's publications in JIS to receive the award. The person must be a member of the Academy, and must have participated in Academy's functions for more than 2 years.

**Barry Sauer Award** is given to the student who scores the highest in SRS, SRA and SRT certification examination. These awards were instituted in the years 1997, 2006 and 2006, respectively.

Barry Sauer was a founding member of the ASR, and served as President elect and a member of the board. He was also a charter member of the Society for Biomaterials. He served as a model for veterinarians to get involved in surgical research, and later went on to encourage the importance of technicians in experimental surgery. The development of the SRS title was entirely his idea. It has evolved into an award for technicians, thus proving his point regarding their importance in our field.

**Michael DeLeo Award** was instituted in the year 2003 and is given for the best poster presented at the annual Academy of Surgical Research meeting. This award is judged by a committee constituted by the Academy of Surgical Research and is scored on the basis of quality, style and presentation.

Michael A. DeLeo was the Pre-Clinical Research Manager for Baxter Health Care for over 25 years. He was also a President and Board member of the Academy of Surgical Research. He died at a very young age of 46, but even in that short time, was a genuine leader in industrial experimental surgery as it related to specialized toxicology and

devices. He was the one that developed the encouragement of authors to present posters, and gave them of equal importance as podium presentations.

### **C. Additional Committees**

Additional Ad Hoc committees may be appointed in such manner as may be designated by a vote adopted by a majority of the Board of Directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present. Members of each such committee shall be members of ASR except as otherwise provided by vote of the Board of Directors. Any member of such committee may be removed by the person or persons authorized to appoint such member whenever, in their judgment, the best interests of ASR shall be served by such removal.

### **Section 3. Term of Office.**

Each member of a committee shall continue as such until the next annual meeting of the membership and until a successor is appointed, unless the committee shall be sooner terminated, or unless such member be removed from such committee, or unless such member shall cease to qualify as a member thereof.

### **Section 4. Vacancies.**

Vacancies in the membership of any committee may be filled by appointments made by the Chair of that committee with approval by the BOD.

### **Section 5. Quorum.**

Unless otherwise provided in the vote designating a committee, a majority of the whole committee shall constitute a quorum, and the act of a majority of the members present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the committee.

### **Section 6. Rules.**

Each committee may adopt rules for its own government not inconsistent with these bylaws or with rules adopted by the Board of Directors.

## **ARTICLE VIII. Contracts, Checks, Deposits, and Funds.**

### **Section 1. Contracts.**

The Board of Directors may authorize any officer or officers, agent or agents of the ASR to enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the ASR, and such authority may be general or confined to specific instances.

## **Section 2. Checks and Drafts.**

All checks, drafts, or orders for the payment of money, notes, or other evidence of indebtedness issued in the name of the ASR shall be signed by the Treasurer or the Executive Director. For any amount under \$1,000, the Treasurer's or the Executive Director's signature will serve, but for amounts over \$1,000, two signatures will be required, one of whose will be the Treasurer's. The other signature may be the Executive Director or another Board officer.

## **Section 3. Deposits.**

All funds of the ASR shall be deposited promptly to the credit of the ASR in such banks, trust companies, or other depositories as the Board of Directors may select.

## **Section 4. Gifts.**

The Board of Directors may accept, on behalf of the ASR, any contribution, gift, bequest, or device for the general purposes, or for any special purpose of the ASR.

## **Section 5. Annual Dues.**

The Board of Directors, by appropriate two-thirds vote of its number, may determine the amount of annual dues payable to the ASR by each class of members. Upon proof of retirement, a member of the ASR may be eligible for emeritus membership, in which case they are exempted from payment of dues. Failure to pay dues by the due date established by the Board shall be *prime facie* cause for termination of membership.

## **ARTICLE IX. Books and Records.**

The ASR shall keep complete and correct books and records of account and shall also keep minutes of the proceedings of its members and Board of Directors, and shall keep at its registered or principal office a record giving the names and addresses of the members entitled to vote. All books and records of the ASR may be inspected by any member, or his or her agent or attorney, for any proper purpose at any reasonable time.

## **ARTICLE X. Seal.**

The Board of Directors shall provide a corporate seal, which shall be in the form of a circle and shall have inscribed thereon the name of the ASR and the words "Corporate Seal".

## **ARTICLE XI. Parliamentary Authority.**

The rules contained in the current edition of Robert's Rules of Order, Newly Revised shall govern the ASR in all cases to which they are applicable and in which they are not inconsistent with these bylaws and any special rules of order the ASR may adopt.

**ARTICLE XII. Amendments.**

These bylaws can be amended only by a two-thirds majority vote of the members present at any annual or special meeting called for that purpose or by a two-thirds majority vote of the Board of Directors. Written proposals for bylaw amendments must be presented to and approved by the Board of Directors prior to voting by the membership. After review and approval by the Board of Directors, members shall be notified of the proposed amendments prior to the annual or special meeting.

**ARTICLE XIII. Mailing List**

ASR will not make available a mailing list other than for purposes of mailing Association notices, newsletters, and / or publications.

**ARTICLE XIV. Dissolution.**

In the event of the dissolution of the ASR, the assets of the ASR will be donated to one or more scientific institutions acknowledged being of public utility as selected by the Board.

**ARTICLE XV. Fiscal Year.**

The fiscal year of the ASR shall begin on the first day of January of each year and end on the last day of December of that same year.